Nos. 71497-0 (Consolidated with Nos. 71498-8 and 71553-4)

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

OLIVER L. WUTH, a minor, through his Guardian Ad Litem Keith L. Kessler; and BROCK M. WUTH and RHEA K. WUTH, husband and wife,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

٧.

LABORATORY CORPORATION OF AMERICA, a foreign corporation; KING COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT NO. 1, d/b/a VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER; et al.,

Defendants-Appellants,

and

JAMES A. HARDING, M.D.; and OBSTETRIX MEDICAL GROUP OF WASHINGTON, INC., P.S., a domestic corporation,

Defendants-Respondents.

APPELLANT LABCORP'S OPENING BRIEF

I. INTRODUCTION

LabCorp¹ is appealing \$50 million in damages awarded because a child with a hereditary chromosomal condition was born. These damages were awarded under the scarcely-litigated "wrongful birth" and "wrongful life" torts, which were recognized back in 1983 for "defects and anomalies" in children caused by a prescription drug.² As damages cannot be awarded for injuries that cannot be established as a matter of law,³ these claims should have never been considered by a jury. Once at trial, the jury in this case was never given an opportunity to evaluate the case. In the end, the lab (LabCorp) and the clinic (Valley Medical Center ("Valley")) were punished for Dr. James Harding, M.D.'s failure to order a FISH⁴ test for his pregnant patient, Rhea Wuth.

Long before her appointment with Dr. Harding, Rhea and her husband, Brock, ("the Wuths") learned that they had a substantial chance of passing on a chromosomal condition to any child they conceived. Although a FISH test was needed to detect that subtle condition, Dr. Harding never ordered it. The only test he ordered was a fetal karyotype

¹ Appellant/Defendant Dynacare Laboratories, Inc. is a d/b/a of defendant Dynacare Northwest, Inc., which is a subsidiary of defendant Laboratory Corporation of America. For the purposes of this lawsuit, the entities and trade names are one and are collectively referred to as "LabCorp."

Harbeson v. Parke-Davis, Inc., 98 Wn.2d 460, 463, 656 P.2d 483 (1983).

³ McKernan v. Aasheim, 102 Wn.2d 411, 419, 687 P.2d 850 (1984).

⁴ "FISH" is the acronym for Fluorescence In-Situ Hybridization. CP 793 (attached as Appendix A). A FISH test is a specific type of genetic test that can "detect more subtle translocations" in chromosomes. RP 1323.

test, and LabCorp correctly performed that test.⁵ Although LabCorp's report cautioned of the limitations of fetal karyotype testing, Dr. Harding never read the results and failed to order any follow-up tests. The Wuths' son, Oliver, was born with the hereditary chromosomal condition.

The Wuths and Oliver ("the Wuth family") filed suit against Dr. Harding, Valley, and LabCorp. The Wuths asserted a wrongful birth claim seeking damages for mental anguish caused by the birth of their "defective child." Oliver sought expenses he will incur due to his "defects," arguing that he would have been better off not being born.

Months before trial, the trial court struck testimony from LabCorp's expert who opined that Dr. Harding breached the standard of care by failing to read LabCorp's report and consider whether additional testing was required (a theory that the Wuth family had curiously abandoned). Not until shortly before trial did LabCorp, Valley, and the trial court learn that the Wuth family and Dr. Harding had – on an unknown date – reached a settlement under which the family stood to gain \$500,000 over and above any verdict if the jury found Dr. Harding *not* liable. The jury was never told about their deal.

After weeks of testimony targeting the clinic where Dr. Harding treated Rhea (Valley) and the lab that performed the test he ordered

-2-

⁵ CP 793 (attached as Appendix A); CP 2748 (attached as Appendix B).

(LabCorp), the jury attributed 50 percent of awarded damages to each and found Dr. Harding not liable. Although testimony was presented to support, at most, \$20,628,306 in economic damages, the jury (which was improperly encouraged to consider deterrence) increased that sum, awarding an even \$25 million to Oliver. In addition, the jury awarded a matching \$25 million for the Wuths' mental anguish, notwithstanding that such anguish must be offset by the considerable emotional benefits that Oliver brings to their lives. LabCorp and Valley have appealed, and the Wuth family has cross-appealed.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. Whether the trial court erred by allowing the Wuth family to seek damages for injuries that cannot be established as a matter of law under theories of "wrongful birth" and "wrongful life"?
- B. Whether prejudicial errors that deprived LabCorp of its right to put on a defense necessitate a new trial before a fully-informed, untainted jury?
 - Did the trial court improperly exclude qualified expert opinions on issues that would have been helpful to the jury? If so, is reversal required because those opinions were relevant, not unduly prejudicial, and not cumulative, thereby rendering the errors not harmless?
 - 2. Did the trial court err when it refused to allow the jury to allocate fault based upon theories advanced against Dr. Harding by LabCorp after the Wuth family settled with him and abandoned those compelling theories?
 - 3. Did the trial court err when it deprived the jury of the opportunity to assess the credibility of aligned parties

that held themselves out as adverse and by repeatedly commenting to the jury that the Wuths were not at fault?

4. Did the trial court err by concluding that deterrence was properly interjected into this compensatory damages trial?

LabCorp assigns error to the following:

Summary judgment orders: CP 1110-13 (Jan. 11, 2013), CP 2247-49 (Mar. 15, 2013), CP 3140-41 (Jul. 18, 2013) and CP 6383-86 (Oct. 14, 2013) (reconsideration), CP 4955-57 (Oct. 11, 2013).

Orders re motions *in limine*: CP 8794-98 (Oct. 28, 2013), CP 8801-10 (Oct. 29, 2013), CP 10167-75 (Nov. 18, 2013), CP 10813-23 (Nov. 27, 2013), CP 11740-50 (Dec. 12, 2013), CP 11751-55 (Dec. 12, 2013).

Jury instructions: #6 at CP 11607-09, #16 at CP 11619-20, and #18 at CP 11622. Minute entry listing rulings: CP 11633-11718. Judgment: CP 11759-61 (Dec. 20, 2013); order denying post-judgment motions: CP 14209-11 (Jan. 24, 2014).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Oliver Wuth's Life

Oliver Wuth is a developmentally- delayed boy who, at the time of trial, was five years old. RP 2242-43, 2800.⁶ He has an overall IQ score of 85, which falls within the average range. RP 1914, 2567-68; *see also* RP 3044-45. He struggles with expressive language, but is "cheerful, friendly, and engaging." RP 1952, 2011. At the time of trial, Oliver was

⁶ Oliver was born on July 12, 2008, CP 1616, and trial took place between October and December 2013.

attending public school, where he was enrolled in a special needs

Kindergarten class, riding the school bus each day. RP 1515, 1518, 2707.

B. Rhea's Pregnancy With Oliver

1. The Hereditary Chromosomal Condition

When the Wuths got pregnant with Oliver in October 2007, they knew that Brock was a carrier of a chromosomal condition called an "unbalanced 2;9 translocation." RP 580-84; CP 665-71. Brock's adult cousin, Jackie Mills, has an unbalanced 2;9 translocation and suffers from serious physical and cognitive impairments. RP 446. Knowing from consultations with two genetic counselors that there was a very high chance that their unborn child would inherit that condition (which was detectable with a FISH test), the Wuths maintained that they would have terminated any such pregnancy. RP 580-84, 587, 607.

2. Dr. Harding Fails to Order a FISH Test

Rhea made an appointment with Dr. Harding, a physician who is board certified in obstetrics and maternal-fetal medicine, for a CVS⁷ procedure to be used for genetic testing. RP 4297, 4302; CP 748. The appointment took place at Valley on December 31, 2007, when Rhea was 12 weeks pregnant. RP 608-09, 613, 4300-01; CP 673. The Wuths

- 5 -

⁷ "CVS" is the acronym for Chorionic Villus Sampling. CP 793 (attached as Appendix A). CVS is a procedure like an amniocentesis, where a sample of material is taken to send to the lab for testing. However, unlike an amniocentesis, CVS testing is done in the first trimester of the pregnancy. RP 456:4–11.

brought to their appointment a copy of Brock's genetic test results, identifying "break points" that were essential to locating the subtle translocation. CP 4406, 4409; *see* CP 665-71. Rhea later testified that she told Dr. Harding that a FISH test was needed. RP 611.

Upon her arrival, Dr. Harding cautioned Rhea there was no genetic counselor in the clinic, and proceeded to have "a fairly long discussion" with the Wuths about whether to proceed with CVS that day, given clinic policy that required the presence of a genetic counselor. RP 4302-03, 4473. Based upon the Wuths' high level of knowledge, Dr. Harding decided to proceed without a genetic counselor. RP 4303.

After performing the CVS procedure, Dr. Harding directed a Valley employee (Cathy Shelton) to order a "fetal karyotype" test. RP 4313, 4416, 4791. The requisition form noted a family history of an unbalanced translocation, but did not identify the "break points" that would have provided a roadmap to identify the subtle translocation; the FISH test boxes were not checked, and although the form confirmed that an ultrasound had been done, it did not advise the lab that the ultrasound was abnormal. CP 793 (attached as Appendix A); RP 1149, 4416.

Brock's genetic test results that identified the necessary "break points" were never received by LabCorp. RP 4407-10. A theory was offered that

the paperwork could have been lost on LabCorp's end, but the following box on the requisition form indicates that no paperwork was ever sent:

[] CHECK IF PAPERWORK TO BE SENT WITH SAMPLE.

CP 793; RP 648.

3. LabCorp Completes the Genetic Test Ordered by Dr. Harding, But Dr. Harding Fails to Read it or Order Follow-Up Testing

LabCorp completed the fetal karyotype test ordered by Dr. Harding and, on January 7, 2008, reported the following results and limitations:

Cytogenetic analysis of cultured chorionic villi revealed a MALE karyotype with an apparently normal banding pattern in all metaphases examined.

This result does not exclude the possibility of subtle rearrangements below the resolution of cytogenetics or congenital anomalies due to other etiologies.

CP 2748-49. A genetic counselor at Valley called Rhea to give her the test results. RP 1434; CP 795. Rhea was told that the results confirmed a "normal male karyotype" and also that it "[1]ooks like he is not even a carrier of the translocation." RP 1434, 4722. She was never told about the limitations of the test Dr. Harding ordered as outlined in LabCorp's results, and assumed that the test he ordered was a FISH test. RP 607.

Dr. Harding himself did not review LabCorp's results. RP 4474-75, 4519. Although he expected to receive them two weeks after Rhea's

December 31, 2007 appointment, four weeks passed before he took any other action. CP 673, 676. At Rhea's January 28, 2008 ultrasound appointment, Dr. Harding "flipped open" her chart "to see what had gone on." RP 4475. Relying upon a summary drafted by the genetic counselor instead of the test results—which expressly warned about limitations—Dr. Harding drafted an update to Rhea's primary physician, providing assurances that "the fetal chromosome results were normal, with no evidence of ... a translocation." CP 674; RP 4475, 4782-84.

Oliver was born on July 12, 2008, with the unbalanced 2;9 translocation. RP 1438-39, 1451; CP 733-38.

C. The Wuths Sue Dr. Harding, Valley, and LabCorp, and Then Enter Into a Secret Settlement With Dr. Harding

1. The Wuths Ask the Jury to Award Damages Under "Wrongful Birth" and "Wrongful Life" Causes of Action

The Wuth family sued Dr. Harding, Valley, and LabCorp to recover mental anguish damages caused by the "wrongful birth" of Oliver. CP 1616-28. Oliver himself⁸ asserted a "wrongful life" cause of action to recover extraordinary expenses he will incur because he was born with a disability, though his condition was inherited and, therefore, not caused by any defendant. CP 1616-28, 11619. Over objections from LabCorp and

_

⁸ Oliver asserted claims through Guardian ad Litem, Keith L. Kessler. CP 1616.

Valley, the trial court allowed these claims to be asserted under *Harbeson* v. *Parke-Davis*, *Inc.*, 98 Wn.2d 460, 656 P.2d 483 (1983).

2. The Trial Court Narrows the Wuth Family's Claims Against Dr. Harding, and Strikes LabCorp's Expert

At trial, LabCorp's defense was that others were to blame, primarily Dr. Harding. CP 2236. After evidence was developed by the Wuth family and LabCorp to establish Dr. Harding's numerous breaches of the standard of care, Dr. Harding filed a motion for partial summary judgment, asking that claims asserted *by the Wuth family* be narrowed significantly. CP 2590-606. In a passing comment in his reply brief, Dr. Harding suggested that testimony critical of Dr. Harding from LabCorp's expert, Dr. Andrew London, M.D., "should be stricken or disregarded." CP 2915. Oddly, the Wuth family filed no opposition. RP 7/18/13, at 4. After a series of procedural irregularities, ¹⁰ the jury never got to consider any of Dr. London's criticisms of Dr. Harding.

3. The Wuths and Dr. Harding Announce Their Settlement

Sometime before trial, Dr. Harding and the Wuth family entered into a settlement agreement that aligned their interests together against

-9-

See, e.g., CP 3636-747, 3748-49, 4428-34, 4964, 11044-58, 13879-87, 14212-14.
 See infra, part IV.C.3.

LabCorp and Valley.¹¹ CP 14219-22.¹² The undated agreement provided a bonus payment of \$500,000 beyond the jury's assessment of damages to the Wuth family if the jury found Dr. Harding *not* liable, and capped Dr. Harding's exposure to the limits of his insurance policy if the jury determined that he was liable. CP 14219-20. Therefore, the Wuth family had a strong incentive to shift their theory of liability from the treating physician to the clinic where he consulted with the Wuths and the lab he directed to perform the fetal karyotype test. Likewise, Dr. Harding had an equally strong incentive to embrace the Wuth family's version of events and join in their efforts to prosecute the clinic and the lab.

The trial court, LabCorp, and Valley first learned of this agreement less than one month before trial. CP 10211, 11926. The jury, however, never learned of its existence. Although the jury observed unified objections, shared positions, and supportive testimony between Dr. Harding and the Wuth family, the trial court kept from the jury the critical fact that the family and Dr. Harding, who held themselves out as adversaries, actually shared a goal. RP 4015.

1

¹¹ The agreement's terms indicate that it was entered into before an emergency stay was ordered by this Court on April 4, 2013, in connection with Valley's motion for discretionary review, No. 70052-9-I. CP 14219-22.

¹² This citation is to the redacted version of the agreement that was filed in the public record. The full agreement, which the trial court determined was properly filed under seal to protect Dr. Harding's privacy, appears at CP 14277-80 (sealed). The discussion of the agreement set forth in this brief addresses only the parts of the agreement that were filed in the public record.

4. The Trial Court Prohibits LabCorp from Allocating Fault to Dr. Harding

Aware of the settlement reached between the Wuth family and Dr. Harding, the trial court nonetheless agreed to insulate Dr. Harding from theories of liability that had been abandoned by the Wuth family – including those that were being pursued by LabCorp. Even though a critical part of LabCorp's defense was the allocation of fault to Dr. Harding, and even though the Wuth family stood to gain an extra \$500,000 if Dr. Harding was found not liable, the trial court expressly prohibited LabCorp from presenting evidence on "issues against Dr. Harding" that were broader in scope than the artificially-narrow theory of liability being pursued – post-settlement – by the Wuth family. RP 4015. The jury was only allowed to evaluate whether "Dr. Harding was negligent if he failed to instruct Valley's medical assistant, Cathy Shelton, to send clinical information that identified the chromosomes and breakpoints with the test requisition forms and CVS sample to LabCorp." CP 11607-08.

D. A Six-Week Trial, the Jury Verdict, and the Appeals

Although it was Dr. Harding's responsibility to ascertain and order the appropriate test(s), 13 the trial strategy of Dr. Harding and the Wuth family was that LabCorp should have (1) detected from the limited

¹³ RP 4986.

information it received that additional information might have existed about a chromosomal condition in the father of the baby, (2) called Dr. Harding or Valley to ask for that information, and (3) upon receipt of any such additional information, recommended that Dr. Harding order a FISH test so LabCorp could perform it. RP 444-73, 541, 543. The focus of the inquiries about the roles of Valley and LabCorp centered around whether Valley failed to send the paperwork or whether the paperwork could have been lost on LabCorp's end. *See*, *e.g.*, RP 648.

The six-week trial, however, touched on a variety of hot-button issues, including misleading descriptions of this case as if it involved a threat to Rhea's right to choose to have an abortion, ¹⁴ criticism of persons who hold pro-life views, ¹⁵ the purpose of the tort system being to deter, ¹⁶ and the notion that "corporate medicine" sacrifices the quality of patient care for return on investment. ¹⁷ The 12 jurors who decided this case

_

¹⁴ RP 10/22/13, at 4 (telling potential jurors that the Wuths' "injury [was] from not being able to exercise their right to terminate the pregnancy"); RP 10/24/13, at 224 (telling potential jurors that the Wuths are "going to be asking for a lot of compensation for ... not having the right to have an abortion").

¹⁵ RP 10/22/13, at 14, 179, 215; RP 1/17/14, at 26-27 ("Pro life" is not the law of the land. It may be a personal opinion that we all respect, but it is not the law.").

¹⁶ RP 5388-89 (to the jury during closing arguments: "Let's chat for a minute about damages and the policies of the civil law system."); see RP 10/24/13, at 198 (opining before trial that it was necessary to reverse "a swing of the pendulum to the point where juries don't understand why we have a tort system anymore"); RP 1/24/14 at 51 (commenting after trial that "it's really necessary these days, in personal injury cases, [to mention deterrence] because jurors have been saturated with public information campaigns designed to persuade them that there isn't any value to the tort system, that it's just some greedy lottery for greedy plaintiffs").

¹⁷ RP 2345, 4330, 5308 (the Wuth family's counsel discussing corporate medicine).

answered with an unqualified "no" to the following question: "Under most circumstances, do you believe that abortion is morally wrong or should be illegal?" CP 8710-11, 18 11806. The trial court questioned those who answered, "yes" and dismissed eight of them for cause. 19

Then, throughout the trial, the trial judge told the jury again and again that the Wuths had done nothing wrong and could not be blamed even though a ruling was issued pre-trial that removed them from the verdict form. CP 632-35, 1110-13.²⁰ The trial judge was deliberate in these efforts, explaining to counsel before trial: "I'm going to be quite

[I]f [the potential jurors] indicated anything on the questionnaire other than "no" -- if they put a question mark or left a blank, or put a smiley face or did anything other than mark "no," we destroyed -- strike that -- we brought those people that said anything other than "no," up to the court and we examined them in open court on the record.

For all the people that answered affirmatively or did anything else, you have a record of what they said in the questionnaire from the transcript.

4.3350

That's how we keep our record.

¹⁸ The potential jurors' written responses to this written question are not in the record on appeal because they were destroyed by the trial court. *See* GR 15(h)(1). The trial court explained that the court unilaterally identified jurors to subject to identical follow up questioning based on any marking that appeared on the questionnaire other than "no," whether that marking was a smiley face or anything else:

RP 12/20/13, at 6-7; see RP 10/21/13, at 141:14–18, 145:21–22, 148:10–11, 177:10–12, 185:5–6, 214:5–17, 234:3–5; RP 10/22/13, at 58:1–5, 68:13–16, 69:10–14, 74:9–11, 101:11–12, 106:13–15 (juror responses).

¹⁹ CP 8710–8711; RP 10/21/2013, at 141:14–18, 145:21–22, 148:10–11, 177:10–12, 185:5–6, 214:5–17, 234:3–5; RP (10/22/13), at 58:1–5, 68:13–16, 69:10–14, 74:9–11, 101:11–12, 106:13–15.

²⁰ Although conflicting evidence was presented as to whether the Wuths could be found contributorily negligent, the trial court resolved this issue on summary judgment. CP 836-87, 909-1001.

strong with the jury about that. They will have it burned into their brains that there is not fault on the part of the plaintiffs." RP 10/21/13, at 35.

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