No. 71497-0

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OLIVER L. WUTH, a minor by and through his Guardian Ad Litem KEITH L. KESSLER; and BROCK M. WUTH and RHEA K. WUTH, husband and wife,

Respondents,

v.

LABORATORY CORPORATION OF AMERICA, a foreign corporation; DYNACARE LABORATORIES, INC., a foreign corporation; DYNACARE NORTHWEST, INC., a domestic corporation, d/b/a DYNACARE LABORATORIES, INC., a domestic corporation; KING COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT NO. 1, d/b/a VALLEY MEDICAL CENTER,

Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY THE HONORABLE CATHERINE SHAFFER

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

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

The Supreme Court has rejected Valley's argument that medical malpractice plaintiffs like the Wuths are barred from recovering any emotional distress damages in the absence of "objective symptomology." (Valley Br. 29) "[T]he objective symptom requirement is not necessary to prove emotional distress damages under RCW chapter 7.70." Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91, 113, 26 P.3d 257 (2001). See Schmidt v. Coogan, ___ Wn.2d __, \$\mathbb{q}\$27, 335 P.3d 424, 431 (2014) (claim under RCW ch. 7.70 among the statutory claims for which emotional distress damages available in the absence of objective symptomology).

The Wuths' statutory claim was not for common law "bystander injury" or for negligent infliction of emotional distress, in which the Court has required objective symptomology as a

limiting tool, "as corroborating evidence to fend off fraudulent claims." Hegel v. McMahon, 136 Wn.2d 122, 133, 960 P.2d 424 (1998); Berger, 144 Wn.2d at 113. The Wuths sued under RCW ch. 7.70 for "injury arising from health care"— woefully inadequate health care that began when Valley negligently scheduled an appointment to take a sample from Rhea's placenta for genetic testing. Valley's argument that emotional distress damages are unavailable after such a grievous invasion of its patient's intimate and personal interests only illustrates the wisdom of the Harberson Court's holding "— without requiring physical impact or objective symptomatology — 'that recovery may include . . . damages for the parents' emotional injury caused by the birth of the defective child." Price v. State, 114 Wn. App. 65, 72, 57 P.3d 639 (2002) (emphasis in original), quoting Harbeson, 98 Wn.2d at 475.

Valley fails to cite any of this controlling authority, instead relying on a products liability case that itself recognized that recovery for emotional distress is appropriate when a defendant violates "emotionally laden personal interests" such as the parent-child bond "and emotional distress was an expected result of the objectionable conduct." *Bylsma v. Burger King Corp.*, 176 Wn.2d 555, 561, ¶ 10, 293 P.3d 1168 (2013) (Valley Br. 31); *see also*

Schmidt, 335 P.3d at 430, ¶24 ("plaintiff in a legal malpractice case may recover emotional distress damages when significant emotional distress is foreseeable from the sensitive or personal nature of representation or when the attorney's conduct is particularly egregious") (Wiggins, J., plurality).

Valley dismisses the jury's constitutional role by seeking de novo review of the extent of the Wuths' emotional distress. ¹³ But the "jury's role in determining noneconomic damages is perhaps even more essential" than its constitutional role in determining other questions of fact. *Bunch v. King County Dep't of Youth Servs.*, 155 Wn.2d 165, 179-80, ¶24, 116 P.3d 381 (2005), quoting *Sofie*, 112 Wn.2d at 654. The jury and then the trial court definitively rejected LabCorp's argument that the emotional benefits the Wuths receive from parenting Oliver entirely offset their injury (LabCorp Br. 19-20) as well as Valley's absurd assertion that the Wuths did not offer a "shred of evidence" of their emotional distress. (Valley Br. 30)

damages is well within the expected range of tort damages. (1/24 RP 65) See Kritzer, Advocacy and Rhetoric vs. Scholarship and Evidence in the Debate Over Contingency Fees: A Reply to Professor Brickman, 82 Wash. U. L. Q. 477, 492-93 (2004).

The trial court judge heard the emotionally-laden testimony firsthand. She flatly rejected LabCorp's and Valley's challenge to the verdict, finding that "the pain and suffering over and above the joy and love that parents feel about a disabled child . . . is a pain . . . that is almost unbearable to witness . . . the pain that will last as long as Oliver is alive . . . an ongoing grief that this loving, happy little boy, is trapped inside such a disabled body and mind:"

[The Wuths] knew they didn't want to have a disabled child who had the same abnormality that Mr. Wuth carried, and so they just did everything that they were supposed to do.

They went to their doctor, they went to Valley, they went to Dr. Harding, they brought all their information, they were timely, they were prepared, they followed up, and they prepared the way, with joy, for Oliver... And then they gave birth to a child who, from the moment that, as Mrs. Wuth said, as she looked into his eyes, she knew much was wrong, much was missing, and then they began the task of raising Oliver.

Of course they love him. . . . [RP 1434-36, 1442-46, 1479-81, see RP 2377-78, 2784-85] . . .

But the pain that comes with raising Oliver was also apparent in really almost every word these plaintiffs spoke when they were on the stand, and in the video and photographic evidence that we saw here. [Exs. 7, 8, 9; RP 1458-61, 1905-06, 2784-85]

I heard a father who loves his son, is protective of his son . . . very sadly telling us that, in fact, the pain and suffering of watching Oliver be his son outweighs his

love and happiness at having Oliver in his life. It's a terrible admission . . . for a father to make. [RP 2839]

This is a pain that will last as long as Oliver is alive.... It's an ongoing grief that this loving, happy little boy is trapped inside such a disabled body and mind, and all that was needed to prevent that from happening was an accurate lab test. [RP 1722-30, 2785-86, 2798-2800; see also RP 1490-94]

(1/24 RP 68-71) (supporting citations added)

The trial court found that the Wuths' "pain has been implicit in all of the evidence that we heard from the plaintiffs, and I guess you had to be here to see it, like me and the jury. But that's why this is such a high award." (1/24 RP 71) This Court cannot second guess the trial court's decision or the evidentiary basis supporting the jury's verdict, no matter how "limited" that evidence may appear to appellants when viewed in a cold record. *Bunch*, 155 Wn.2d at 179, ¶ 23-24.

4. Evidence concerning Brock's cousin's condition was relevant to both proximate cause and damages. (Valley Arg. § C.3)

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence that Brock's cousin Jackie and his aunt Patsy suffered from serious disabilities as a result of the translocation for which he and Rhea sought testing. Valley conceded that the condition of Brock's relatives bore directly on causation and damages, and the

trial court repeatedly gave the jury a limiting instruction regarding this evidence, carefully evaluating the prejudicial nature of the evidence and taking appropriate steps to minimize it. (RP 282, 1064, 1488, 1922, 2220, 2509, 2698, 2781) See Jenkins v. Snohomish County PUD No. 1, 105 Wn.2d 99, 107, 713 P.2d 79 (1986).

Jackie's condition and her genetic testing is what led Brock and Rhea to Valley's Maternal-Fetal Medicine Clinic. Valley now argues that it was "uncontested" that "the Wuths would have terminated the pregnancy" had Valley and LabCorp provided accurate information, while at the same time conceding that no defendant stipulated to causation. (Valley Br. 45-46) (see 10/22 RP 21) Both LabCorp and Valley in fact vigorously contested this element of the Wuths' case below, successfully opposing the Wuths' motion for summary judgment on the issue of causation (CP 13384-86) and making the Wuths "prove" at trial that they would have terminated the pregnancy had they been told the fetus had the same genetic defect as Brock's cousin Jackie. (e.g., RP 1389-90, 1747-53)

Valley also utterly fails to address the fact that the Wuths' knowledge of Jackie's condition exacerbated their emotional distress and anxiety that their son will develop Jackie's obesity, anti-social behavior, or seizures. (RP 1729-30, 2782-88) Valley

cherry picks from its cross-examination of the Wuths' neurologist Dr. Glass to argue that because Jackie's condition is not "predictive," evidence of her disabilities was not relevant. (Valley Br. 45 citing RP 1922) Valley ignores that its own neurologist agreed with Dr. Glass that Jackie, the only living person sharing this particular unbalanced translocation, is a relevant "data point" for any expert to consider in reflecting on Oliver's prognosis. (RP 1934; see RP 1550, 1591, 4035)

5. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in instructing, as LabCorp asked, that the jury could not award damages to deter the defendants or to "send a message." (LabCorp Arg. § D.2; Valley Arg. § C.1)

The trial court allowed counsel to argue that policies of compensation and deterrence underlie our system of tort law, but instructed the jury, with Valley's and LabCorp's approval, that the only "purpose of damages is to compensate," and that it is "not appropriate . . . to award damages . . . to deter these specific defendants or to send some sort of message." (RP 5388) This distinction is not erroneous, the Wuths' counsel never "argue[d] for 'deterrence damages'" (Valley Br. 15), and the trial court's instruction cured any possible prejudice to the defense. The trial

court acted well within its discretion in denying a new trial on this basis. (1/24 RP 50-52)

"[D]eterring negligence and compensating for injury" are the "underlying principles" of tort law. *Mohr v. Grantham*, 172 Wn.2d 844, 856, \$20, 262 P.3d 490 (2011). An accurate statement about the policy underlying tort law is not improper argument. *See Miller v. Kenny*, 180 Wn. App. 772, 817, \$109, 325 P.3d 278 (2014) ("appeal[] to the jurors' interest as members of the public to 'protect the public interest' and to enforce the public 'compact' that insurance companies have under the law... is not improper argument in a[n insurance] bad faith case."). The trial court repeatedly prohibited any argument for punitive damages, or that damages be sufficient to "send a message" to Valley and LabCorp. (RP 198-99, 5254-55; 1/24 RP 51-52) The Wuths' counsel obeyed this restriction in arguing that the tort system holds defendants accountable for two reasons — compensation and deterrence. "Deterrence is not punishment." (RP 5257)

The trial court sustained LabCorp's objection when the Wuths' counsel mentioned deterrence in discussing damages. (RP 5308) After *Dr. Harding's* counsel stated that the "purpose of damages, for compensation and deterrence . . . do not apply to Dr.

Harding" (RP 5381), LabCorp asked for a curative instruction, not a mistrial. (RP 5383) The trial court then gave the curative instruction that LabCorp requested (RP 5385) – that "the purpose of damages . . . is to compensate" and that it is "not appropriate to award damages in this case to deter specific defendants or to send some sort of message." (RP 5389) Valley cannot now complain because it never objected to the instruction its co-defendant LabCorp sought. Nor can LabCorp or Valley overcome the strong presumption that the jury followed the court's instruction. Carnation Co., Inc. v. Hill, 115 Wn.2d 184, 186-87, 796 P.2d 416 (1990).

This Court "generally upholds [the] trial court decision[]" on a motion for a new trial, in recognition of the trial court's favored position to determine within the context of the entire trial whether counsel engaged in misconduct and whether any misconduct so severely prejudiced the opposing party as to warrant a new trial. *ALCOA v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 140 Wn.2d 517, 539, 998 P.2d 856 (2000). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in rejecting the defense argument that the jury's verdict was driven by an improper appeal to deterrence or punishment. (1/24 RP 51-52)

B. A properly instructed jury found Valley directly liable based on overwhelming evidence of institutional negligence and vicariously liable for its staff's negligence in failing to send LabCorp information identifying Brock's chromosomal abnormality. (Valley Arg. § A)

A hospital, as well as the health care providers who are its agents, owe a duty of reasonable care to patients. The jury heard overwhelming evidence that Valley violated the standard of care of a hospital operating a maternal-fetal medicine clinic and that its individual agents failed to meet professional standards of care. The trial court neither allowed "novel" theories of liability nor allowed the jury to "infer" Valley's negligence. (Valley Br. 1, 21)

1. The jury found Valley both directly liable for its corporate negligence and vicariously liable for the negligence of its agents in an undifferentiated verdict on six different grounds, any one of which supports the judgment against Valley.

This Court need not address Valley's challenge to the doctrine of corporate negligence because the jury, in an undifferentiated verdict, found Valley negligent in any or all of six different ways, any one of which is sufficient to support the judgment. (CP 11607, 11719-20) Valley did not "propose a special verdict form that would have clarified on what grounds the jury rested its verdict," and it therefore "cannot gain a new trial merely

by showing that at least one of [plaintiff's] claims fails . . ." Collings v. City First Mortgage Servs., LLC, 177 Wn. App. 908, 925, ¶36, 317 P.3d 1047 (2013), rev. denied, 179 Wn.2d 1028 (2014). Where a jury's verdict does not differentiate among multiple theories of liability, this Court must affirm if there is substantial evidence to support any of them.

To preserve the alleged error on appeal, a defendant challenging fewer than all of the theories of liability the jury considered must propose a special verdict that segregates challenged theories from those that the defendant concedes properly went to the jury. See Davis v. Microsoft Corp., 149 Wn.2d 521, 539-40, 70 P.3d 126 (2003); Tegland, 15A Wash. Prac.: Handbook on Civil Procedure § 88.6 (2014-15 Ed.). Valley's proposed verdict form asked only "Was Valley Medical Center negligent?" (CP 5791) In an early conference on instructions, the trial court stated its preference for a "detailed" special verdict form

¹⁴ Accord, McCluskey v. Handorff-Sherman, 125 Wn.2d 1, 11, 882 P.2d 157 (1994) (where defendant conceded warning claim properly before jury, court may affirm where verdict form failed to distinguish between liability for negligent design and failure to warn); Wlasiuk v. Whirlpool Corp., 81 Wn. App. 163, 173, 914 P.2d 102 (1996), modified by 932 P.2d 1266 (1997) (where verdict form did not require jury to specify which sections of employee handbook contained enforceable promises of employer, court may affirm "if we find substantial evidence of a breach of any promise of specific conduct").

with "specific" questions. (RP 1357) The closest Valley came to proposing such a special verdict was its suggestion in conference that the verdict form contain one line for corporate negligence and another for vicarious liability. (RP 2760) But Valley never proposed having the jury differentiate among the six distinct theories of liability in Instruction No. 6.

Valley's argument on appeal that the trial court erred in allowing the jury "to impose liability on Valley without regard to whether or not its individual health care providers satisfied the standard of care" (Valley Br. 25) ignores its unchallenged vicarious liability for medical assistant Shelton's failure to send Brock's genetic test report to LabCorp. (CP 11607) Valley never proposed a special verdict directing the jury to answer what it now calls "the big question' of whether Ms. Shelton deviated from the standard of care." (Valley Br. 22) And the Wuths proved each of three separate claims of corporate negligence, as well as three separate claims that "specific hospital employees and agents actually breached the standard of care" (Valley Br. 23), under unchallenged instructions that did not allow the jury to "infer" negligence but required the Wuths to prove that Valley's "officers, employees, and agents [failed to] exercise the degree of skill, care, and learning expected of

reasonably prudent officers, employees or agents of . . . hospitals in the State of Washington. . ." (CP 11614) This Court should reject Valley's corporate negligence challenge because it was not preserved below.

2. The trial court correctly held that Valley owed its patients a duty to exercise reasonable care to provide adequate staffing, training and supervision of its employees. (Valley Arg. § A.1)

A hospital owes a duty of care to its patients and is liable for its own negligence. *Pedroza v. Bryant*, 101 Wn.2d 226, 233, 677 P.2d 166 (1984). The trial court correctly denied Valley's motion for judgment as a matter of law and correctly instructed the jury on corporate negligence. (CP 11615, 14212-13; 1/17 RP 25-34) If it reaches this unpreserved issue, this Court should reject Valley's attempt to eviscerate its duty to make institutional decisions with due regard for patient care.

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